INSTRUCTIONS

SEE

STATE:

Form 10-300 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
(Rev. 6-72) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Mississippi
COUNTY:
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES Claiborne

INVENTORY — NOMINATION FORM FOR NPS USE ONLY

ENTRY DATE

(Type all entries - complete applicable sections) 7

C OMMON:: X j 4 !0/
Oakland Chapel / N GO
AND/OR HISTORIC: ,”1{" mUVtU (/’\

AND NUMBER: .
Alcorn State University Campus

CITY OR TOWN:

Alcorn tformamr—vicimtryr—

Fourth

COUNTY: L T

Claiborne

STATE

Mississippi

CODE CODE

T ACCESSIBLE
(CCAheff(?:; OWNERSHIP STATUS TO THE PUBLIC
{0 District K] Building |ix] Public Public Acquisition: fg] Occupied Yes: .
O Site (] Structure | Private ] !n Process (] Unoccupied O Reswlcred
{J Object ] Both ] Being Considered ] Preservation work ] Unrestricted
in progress J Ne

PRESENT USE (Check One or More as Appropriate)

{71 Agricultural [J Government O Park [ Transportation [ Comments
[ .Commercial [J Industrial [ Private Residence [ Other (Specity)

a Educational [ Military %1 Religious

[ Entertainment O Museum [ Scientific

Alcorn State University

STREET AND NUMBER:

Alcorn College Station

STATE:

Mississippi

CITY OR TOWN:
Lorman

39096

T~ ODF

28

-31lv.lsS

Office of the Chancery Clerk, Claiborne County Courthouse

STREET AND NUMBER:
Main Street

CiTY OR TOWN:
Port Gibson

STATE

Mississippi 39150

QuioqreT)

CODE

28

tALNNOD

TITLE OF SURVEY:
Historic American Buildings Survey

=

DATE OF SURVEY: 1972 ] Federal [C] State [ County

] Local

DEPOSITORY FOR SURVEY RECORDS:
Division of Prints and Photographs

STREET AND NUMBER:
Library of Congress

pibl ) o P

STATE:
District of Columbia

CITY OR TOWN:
Washington

CODE

HM3EWNNN AYLN3

ATINO 3SN SdN 304

08

31va




(Check One)
[] Excellent &] Good ] Fair O Deteriorated Rui Unex d
CONDITION [ Ruins = pose
(Check One) (Check One)
X] Altered (] Unaltered ] Moved K] Original Site

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Oakland Chapel, an example of the Greek Revival style, is located on a
low, crescent~shaped ridge on the grounds of Alcorn University seven miles
northwest of Lorman, Mississippi. It is a temple-front building, three
stories in height, dominated by a raised portico consisting of six columns
approximating the Tuscan order, full entablature, and pediment. A cast
iron stair, designed with heavy columnar newels and risers pierced in a
floral pattern, rises on the center axis to the main floor. The composition
is topped by a cupola designed with fluted Doric columns set between corner
piers. A full entablature, with triglyphs, metopes, and mutules, extends un+
interrupted around the cupola. A balustrade once rested on the entablature
but was removed during the 1958 restoration.

The building is constructed of brick laid in Flemish bond on the facade
and in common bond on the ground floor and the side and rear elevations. Th
fenestration pattern is regular and strictly symmetrical. The facade is fiv
bays wide with entrance doors on the ground and main floors. Unmolded reveald

w
are let into the spandrels and are stuccoed and painted on the facade elevationy,
Windows are double-hung with twelve-over-twelve glazing encased within a nary
row, beaded architrave finished with a rolled backband. The windows of the m
front elevation are replacements but closely follow the original design. The| _
main entrance consists of a double-leaf door with single vertical panels, =
flanking sidelights, and a large, twelve-pane transom. The opening is en- o

riched by a massive yet simple Greek Revival frontispiece composed of pilaster
full entablature, and abstract pedimental form.

The plan of the main floor, which is repeated on the upper or third floor
consists of a spacious center stairhall and two flanking chambers occupying
the forward third of the building, and a large, two story chapel occupying
the remaining area. The woodwork of the secondary spaces is largely confined
to the center hall. The stair consists of a single flight with winders at the
top, a tapered octagonal newel, a ramped banister, and rectangular-sectioned
balusters. The doorways which communicate with the flanking chambers are hu
with vertically-paneled doors fitted with reproduction rim locks. The frame
are designed with battered and eared architraves supporting a plain box cor-
nice, the customary frieze having been entirely omitted. The chapel door, th
most important of the interior doorways, repeats the basic form of the entrance
door and frontispiece but eliminates the transom and pediment.

The two-story space occupied by the chapel is fitted with a gallery running
along the back and side walls. Notable woodwork original to the room includes
a flush-paneled dado which is repeated, with a balustrade, as the gallery rajil-
ing, and the pews with their paneled and ramped end-boards. Of special interest
is the wooden reredos placed directly opposite the entrance on the dias. It
design is based on the traditional tabernacle frame form with coupled pilasters,
triple-facia architrave, plain frieze, and cornice with bead and reel, egg
and dart, and enriched talon carving highlighted with color. The composition
is completed by a low pediment with three gilt antefixae. Other special decpra-
tive features include a plaster chandelier medallion and bands of geometricafly-
patterned designs stencilled at the cornice and just above the dado level.
During the 1958 restoration, the stencilled designs now painted a bright blu
were retouched, following the faded evidence of the original.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Construction of Oakland Chapel was begun in 1838 by Oakland College, the
first collegiate institution to be established south of the Tennessee River.
The school was founded by Rev. Jeremiah Chamberlain, who first introduced to
the Presbytery of Mississippi, meeting in Baton Rouge, Louisiana in 1829, the
idea of creating the college. Chamberlain, recognizing that no single native
of Mississippi had ever entered the ministry (Mayes, p. 64), saw the estab-
lishment of Oakland as a means '"to raise up in the southwest a native minis-
try" to serve the 300,000 inhabitants of Mississippi, Louisiana, and the
Territory of Arkansas. Representatives of three Louisiana parishes and eight
Mississippi counties met at Bethel Church, near Rodney Landing, Mississippi,
in January, 1830 and on the fourteenth of that month approved Chamberlain's
proposal to establish an "Institution of Higher Learning under the care of
the Mississippi Presbytery." While its founders were searching for a per-
anent location, the school opened with three students on May 14, with Dr.
Chamberlain as its President. By July of that same year, 250 acres were givin
to Oakland College by Robert Cockran and construction of the first buildings
was begun. In 1833, James Smylie, later circuit court judge and vice-chancellior
of the state, became the first graduate of Oakland, thereby becoming the first
native Mississippian to be awarded a collegiate degree in Mississippi (Dunham,
p. 8).

The early years of Oakland College were characterized by lusty growth and
optimism. Dr. Chamberlain reported to Governor McNutt in 1840 on the status
of the college:

We have 250 acres of land . . . and subscriptions to above
$100,000, near one-half of which is due in the form of a

permanent fund. Our buildings are a president's house, a
professor's house, a steward's house, and fifteen cottages

for lodging the students, calculated to contain from six to

eight students each. The first story of a main building,

100 by 65 feet, is now raised, and the house shall be finished
three stories high as soon as funds will warrant it. (Mayes, p. 66)

The unfinished structure referred to by Chamberlain was the chapel, the foun-
dations of which had been laid two years earlier (Bruss, p. 26). The funds
necessary for the structure's completion were not soon forthcoming, for it
Wwas not until two years after Chamberlain's death in 1851 that the construc-
tion would be completed (Stanton, p. 8). While the structure was consistently

(continued)




Alcorn A and M College. Catalogue of Officers and Students. Jackson:
Clarion Steam Printing Establishment, 1886.
Biographical and Historical Memoirs of Mississippi. Chicago: The Goodspeed

Publishing Co., 1891. Reprint. Wooster, Ohio: Micropublishers, Bell and
Howell, 1973.

Bruss, Melvin Kellogg. "History of Oakland College 1830-1871." M.A. Thesis,
Louisiana State University, 1965.

Dunham, Melerson Grey. The Centennial History of Alcorn Agricultural and
Mechanical College. Hattiesburg: University and College Press of Missis-

sippi, 1971

LATITUDE AND LONGITUDE COORDINATES
DEFINING A RECTANGLE LOCATING THE ProoerTy |0 DEFINING The CENTER POINT OF A PHOPERTY
R _OF LESS THAN TEN ACRES __ _
CORNER LATITUDE LONGITUDE LATITUDE LONGITUDE
Degrees Minutes Seconds | Degrees Minutes Seconds Degrees Minutes Seconds | Degrees Minutes Seconds
NW o . ” o ’ ” 31 [+ 52 ’ 34 » o [} ”
SE o ] » o ’ »
SW ° : . ° : .
APPROXIMATE ACREAGE OF NOMINATED PROPERTY: Jogg than one acre
JLIST ALL STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROPERTIES OVERLAPPING STATE OR cougwwARIEs
STATE: cope | counTY RN VAT /’,’7\ coDE
’\\i’ Dp. 4¥ k/A\
oo
STATE: CODE | couNTY: N ”LLL VFU \” CODE
J0r-94 e
STATE: CODE | COUNTY: i Jvu ,974 = coDE
/ .
, AA”ON/;
. DE | c : AR e D
STATE co QUNTY i (J/STL CODE
v

William C. Allen, Architectural Historian

ORGANIZATION DATE

Mississippi Department of Archives and History October, 1974

STREET AND NUMBER:

P. 0. Box 571

CITY OR TOWN: STATE CODE

Jackson

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law

I hereby certify that this property is included in the

89-665), 1 hereby nominate this property for inclusion National Register.

in the National Register and certify that it has been P )
evaluated according to the c-iteria and procedures set 7/ 4 : h‘\

forth by the National Park Service. The recommended

s s N - . R Director, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation
level of significance of this nomination is:

National [7] State K] Local [] )
[ ?//7#/7 >/

Cate
Name %f’ A. /Ax&y‘.g

State Historic Preservation
Title Officer

pate October 28, 1974

GPO 931.894

33

SNOILONY LS NI



Form 10-300a , ~  UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE
uuhl964fn3%¢q7 o NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Mississippi
| lLL;f_i«"f;[NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |[counTY
L S pe , Claiborne
Y 1974 INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM D oy
| {\‘ﬁZ!O/\j/‘:' . Conti tion Sheet ENTRY NUMBER DATE
. REGis - (Continuation Sheet) DEC 7 o7
"(Nuthber all entries)
‘/\ /‘\‘ Ty e R
(R R YR
0f the original fabric of the two main floors, most remains intact, the

notable exception being the disappearance of the stoves served by the twelve
small chimneys. The ground floor, however, retains very little of its

original finish. This level, which continues to be used for classrooms,

has undergone heavy remodeling that has left only one original eight-paneled
door intact. The plan, which may follow the original, consists of a center hall
running the full length of the building, with entrances at either end and

four rooms on each side. At the front of the building, the hall widens to

stairway.

8.

referred to as the chapel, the building also housed recitation and library rooms
space for philosophical and chemical apparatus, and an observatory on the cupols
Oakland Chapel therefore united the religious and academic activities of the
college in one building.

The optimistic future of Oakland was severely curtailed with the death of its
founder and president, Jeremiah Chamberlain, in 1851. Chamberlain, an ardent
unionist and Whig, was assassinated on the campus by George A. Briscoe, a se-
cessionist. Following this great loss, Oakland moved into a period of less
growth than it had experienced in the Chamberlain years. The college's final
decline was precipitated by the Civil War, which closed its doors and ruined
its former financial stability. Rev. Joseph Calvin, the school's last president
complained that Oakland was ''being pressed beyond measure by some outstanding
debts and suffering from want of patronage'" (Rogers, "Oakland College: An
Early Presbyterian Educational Endeavor,” p. 55), but the school managed to
continue operation until 1871. At that time the buildings were purchased for
$40,000 by the state in order that a school might be established for blacks.

Incorporated on May 13, 1871, Alcorn University was named for James L. Alcorn
the twenty-eighth governor of Mississippi, who first suggested that Oakland
College be acquired to establish a normal school for training black teachers.
Hiram R. Revels, the first Negro to be elected to the United States Senate, was
selected as the school's first president, serving from 1871 until 1882. Under
Revels, Alcorn responded to the 1862 Morrill Act by creating an agricultural
department and changing its name to Alcorn Agricultural and Mechanical College,
becoming the first land grant college for blacks in the nation (1878). A. D.
Snodgrass, who graduated from Alcorn in 1882, became the first black to receive
a degree in Mississippi. Thus, Alcorn became the first college which had awarde
degrees to black as well as white students (Rogers, ''Oakland College: Presbyteri
Endeavor," p. 55). The school continues to be maintained as one of Mississippi]
three land grant institutions and was awarded university status in 1973.

Under the stewardship of Alcorn University, Oakland Chapel continued to serve
as the main academic building on campus. The biennial reports to the legislatur
carry the usual requests for funds necessary for maintenance projects such as
reroofing and "Kalsomining" (whitewashing). The most significant addition to
the chapel was the installation of the cast iron balustrade and stairs which

(continued)

accommodate a modern stair, which is undoubtedly in the location of the original

L

-

L .

d
an

GPO 921.724



Form 10-300a UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE

(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE MiSSiSSippi
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |coonTy
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM Claiborne
FOR NPS USE ONLY
(Continuation Sheet) ENTRY NUMBER | DATE
nee 206 1974
(Number all entries) 151" ) s

8.

now lead to the main floor of the portico. These artifacts were brought to
Oakland Chapel after fire had destroyed the residence at nearby Windsor Planta-
tion on February 17, 1890.

In 1958 a tornado that damaged the building made reroofing and interior
repair necessary. The opportunity was taken at that time to restore the
stencilled plaster of the chapel, refurbish a number of pews, install brass
rim locks on interior doors, and replace the windows under the portico. The
last major alteration occurred in 1967, when a Housing and Urban Development

grant was used to remodel a bookstore and other facilities on the ground floor
into classrooms.

9.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Alcorn University was the product of the Mississippi Reconstruction Legislature. The college
was founded in 1871, six years after the close of the Civil War, expressly for the education of
blacks, on the site which had long been set aside for the education of the white youth of the area,
Mississippi, Louisiana and Arkansas.

Oakland College was founded in 1828 in Claiborne County, Mississippi "amidst a beautiful
oak grove, gently undulating and clothed in a perennial dress of green verdire that is pleasing to
the eye and conducive to health and quietude.” This campus was purchased by the state at a cost
of $40,000. Of this original campus there are three structures which remain. These are the
President's Mansion, the Belles Lettres Building, and Oakland Memorial Chapel. The first two of
these buildings have been greatly altered and modified for perpetual usage. Extensive alterations,
additions and modernization have reduced their integrity. For this reason, it is impractical to
include them as a part of this nomination.

Alcorn University, on the other hand, is a bustling modern university campus. The cogs of
progress have turned rapidly and the sites of the original structures have been lost. The only struc-
ture which retains the character of the original campus is Oakland Chapel.

Built as one of the first of the original buildings at Oakland College in 1838, Qakland Chapel,
an example of the Greek Revival style, is located on a low, crescent-shaped ridge on the grounds
of Alcorn University seven miles northwest of Lorman, Mississippi. It is a temple=front building,
three stories in height, dominated by a raised portico consisting of six columns approximating the
Tuscan order, full entablature, and pediment. A cast iron stair, designed with heavy columnar
newels and risers pierced in a floral pattern, rises on the center axis to the main floor. The compo-
sition is topped by a cupola designed with fluted Doric columns set between corner piers. A full
entablature, with triglyphs, metopes, and mutules, extends uninterrupted around the cupola. A
balustrade once rested on the entablature but was removed during the 1958 restoration.

The building is constructed of brick laid in Flemish bond on the facade and in common bond on
the ground floor and the side and rear elevations. The fenestration pattern is regular and strictly
symmetrical. The facade is five-bays wide with entrance doors on the ground and main floors. Un-
molded reveals are let into the spandrels and are stuccoed and painted on the facade elevation.
Windows are double-hung with twelve-over-twelve glazing encased within a narrow, beaded archi-
trave finished with a rolled backband. The windows of the front elevation are replacements but closely
follow the original design. The main entrance consists of a double-leaf door with single vertical
panels, flanking sidelights, and a large, twelve-pane transom. The opening is enriched by a massive
yet simple Greek Revival frontispiece composed of pilasters, full entablature, and abstract pedimental
form.
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The plan of the main floor, which is repeated on the upper or third floor consists of a spacious
center stairhall and two flanking chambers occupying the forward third of the building, and a large,
two story chapel occupying the remaining area. The woodwork of the secondary spaces is largely
confined to the center hall. The stair consists of a single flight with winders at the top, a tapered
octagonal newel, a ramped banister, and rectangular-sectioned balusters. The doorways which
communicate with the flanking chambers are hung with vertically-paneled doors fitted with reproduc-
tion rim locks. The frames are designed with battered and eared architraves supporting a plain box
cornice, the customary frieze having been entirely omitted. The chapel door, the most important
of the interior doorways, repeats the basic form of the entrance door and frontispiece but eliminates
the transom and pediment.

The two -story space occupied by the chapel is fitted with a gallery running along the back and
side walls. Notable woodwork original to the room includes a flush-paneled dado which is repeated,
with a balustrade, as the gallery railing, and the pews with their paneled and ramped end-boards.

‘ /\ Of special interest is the wooden reredos placed directly opposite the entrance on the dias. Its
design is based on the traditional tabernacle frame form with coupled pilasters, triple~facia
architrave, plain frieze, and cornice with bead and reel, egg and dart, and enriched talon carving
highlighted with color. The composition is completed by a low pediment with three gilt antefixae.
Other special decorative features include a plaster chandelier medallion and bands of geometrically-
patterned designs stencilled at the cornice and just above the dado level. During the 1958 restor-
ation, the stencilled designs now painted a bright blue were retouched, following the faded evidence
of the original.

Of the original fabric of the two main floors, most remains intact, the notable exception being
the disappearance of the stoves served by the twelve small chimneys. The ground floor, however,
retains very little of its original finish. This level, which continues to be used for classrooms,
has undergone heavy remodeling that has left only one original eight-paneled door intact. The
plan, which may follow the original, consists of a center hall running the full length of the building
with entrances at either end and four rooms on each side. At the front of the building, the hall
widens to accommodate a modern stair, which is undoubtedly in the location of the original stairway.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE ,
Alcorn University is historically significant because it was the first land grant college in the nation

founded exclusively for blacks. Established by the Mississippi state legislature six years after the end of
the €ivil War, the university was founded in the midst of the black Reconstruction era when it seemed,
a few years, that the plight of black folk would be better. Mississippi's white political leaders were
fearful that the state's black citizens would seek admission to the white state university. Hiram R. Revels,
who became its first president, in his memoirs wrote of the founding that he and Governor Alcorn "preparec
a bill for the establishing of Alcorn University and presented it first o the Senate and then to the House
of Representatives.... As a compliment to me, the legislature styled it Revels University but on my
earnest solicitation it was named for the Governor, Alcorn University."

This first state land grant college for blacks, created by an act of the Mississippi legislature,
May 13, 1871, was located on a site which had long been set aside for the education of the white
youth of the area, Mississippi, Louisiana and Arkansas.

Odkland College was founded in 1828, in Claiborne County. The founder was the Reverend
Jeremiah Chamberlain who convinced the Presbyterians of Mississippi that there was a need for such
a college. By 1840 this college had 250 acres of land and an endowment of $50,000. And at that
time, the president, in describing the growth of the campus mentioned the progress of construction
by skilled black craftsmen of the college's main building, "150 by 65 feet ... three stories high."
That main building was O akland Chapel.

The decade of tension, 1850-1860, which culminate in the Civil War and closure of the college,
in its initial year, saw the demise of the college's founder. The Reverend Jeremiah Chamberlain, a
Whig and a unionist, was assassinated by an advocate of secession. The college was opened again
after the war, but was "being pressed beyond measure by some outstanding debts and suffering from
want of patronage" when it was sold to the state of Mississippi for $40,000.

Alcorn State University began operations under the guidance of one of the most distinguished
blacks of the Reconstruction Era, Hiram R. Revels. Born in Fayetteville, North Carolina, September 27,
1827, Revels was educated in Fayetteville and later in Indiana. In the years before the war he was a
preacher and sometimes a teacher in Kentucky, Tennessee and Missouri. He was in Maryland during
the War and played a role in organizing regiments of black troops to fight in that war. After the Civil
War he became involved in politics and in religious activities in Mississippi. In 1870 he was elected

to the United States Senate, the first black man in history to attain that office. (He served in that
office with distinction and at the end of his term his friend Governor Alcorn wrote that he had dignified

®
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service for him in the state of Mississippi. Revels had already declined other employment, "I
preferred remaining in Mississippi where | could be more beneficial to my race."

While Revels was president of the college, fulfilling his political ambitions, as well, the state
legislature reorganized the institution and made it a land grant college, in 1878. The name was to
be changed to that of Alcorn Agricultural and Mechanical College. The states funds from the Morrill
Act, July 2, 1862, in the Agricultural Land Scrip Fund in 1878 was $227,150.00. This money was
divided between the white land grant college at Starkeville and Alcorn A & M College. Thus the
college acquired an endowment of $113,575.00 and received that year in interest,$5,678.75.

John H. Burrus became president in 1882, and he and those who followed him during the remaining
years of the nineteenth century supported a continuing and growing emphasis on agricultural and
industrial education. This emphasis on industrial and agricultural education was so great that in 1888
it was reported that less than five percent of the 7,273 students in twenty-three of the leading "higher

/\ schools” for Blacks were "engaged in what are now considered classical studies."

John H. Burrus was president of the college from the time of the resignation of Senator Revels,
1882 until 1893. Burrus, aided by his brother, James Burrus, made the college one of the first modern
State Colleges for blacks, maintaining high standards of scholarship. The Burrus presidency was
followed by those of Wilt Reynolds, 1893-1894, and Thomas J. Calloway. President Calloway was
the first to propose that the college become coeducational. His plea for the admission of women
students was not immediately successful .

Alcorn Agricultural and Mechanical College became a coeducational institution during the presidenc
of Witt Lanier. It should be noted that women had been in attendance during the progressive Burrus
years, 1883-1893, and that one "Beulah Turner Robinson in 1888 became the first Black woman in the
nation to graduate from a state supported institution." Lanier's emphasis on education for women led to
the construction of Truly Hall, 1903, and to the employment of women faculty for instruction of the new
class of students in "sewing, cooking, laundering and in nurse training."

The history of the college during the first third of the twentieth century was closely allied to the
life and time of L. J. Rowan. Rowan became president in 1905, served until 1911, when he was re-
placed by J. A, Martin. Martin's presidency ended in 1915, where upon Rowan returned to the
presidency and remained in office until 1934,

Rowan and Martin were graduates of the college. Martin's presidency was very progressive for the
‘ college and physical plant received vast improvements. Martin, who was aware of the financial
! ) problems of Mississippi youth who wanted college training,began an evening college.
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During the Rowan eras Alcorn became one of the states most influential institutions. This was an
era wherein the Booker T. Washington's Atlanta speech compromise'dominated and the college became
the states principal exponent of the "compromise" .

Agricultural and Mechanical came to include all of the trades. Young blacks from the rural areas
of the state came to the college to be trained as agricultural teachers, farmer's advisors and home
economics specialists. Education was available in other areas of trades and in the liberal arts.
Mississippi and other Southern states, while their demogogues stridently insisted that their states were
sovereign, eagerly sought federal funds to support various state activities. The Department of
Agriculture was an important source of such funds. A statewide system of vocational high schools was
established. Among black educators the most lucrative positions available were those as vocational
teachers in such schools. Salaries for vocational teachers in these schools were supplemented by federal
funds and consequently these teachers became an elite class among black educators.

/'\ Throughout the Rowan years Alcorn A & M College suffered severely from inadequate state support.
~ This neglect forced the Rowan administration to be most frugal in its expenditures and Black state
colleges in this era husbanded their inadequate financial resources. President Rowan reported in 1924,
"Our first great handicap, and fundamentally, the cause of all the others, is the Support Fund that is
too small for a plant such as ours.”" $50,000 was the state's total contribution to the support of the
college in that year. '

In the midst of the great depression Dr. Rowan was retired from office and Dr. William H. Bell
became president. During his administration the college made rapid improvements in the quality of
training of the faculty and in improvement of the physical plant.

The program at the institution became more diversified and included the classical arts as well as
vocational training. The college's science department attained high academic excellence. Almost
all of Mississippi's black physicians and dentist are graduates of the college. Colleges and universities
throughout the country have Alcorn State University graduates on their faculties. The college's
graduates have distinguished themselves and their alma mater in numerous aspects of American life.
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The original campus of Oakland College has been severely impacted with the advances of Alcorn
University. Though several structures dating from the 1830s - 40s period remain, their integrity has
been severely reduced by modern additions and alterations. Recent development has led to the de-
struction of other significant buildings and the obliteration of historic sites. For this reason the
selection of the Chapel as commenorative of the historic property is most appropriate.

Beginning at the point of intersection of Route 552 and a service street, proceed in an easterly
direction along the north curb of this service street, a distance of approximately 175 feet, then due
north approximately 80 feet, to a point of equal distance between the Chapel and a building on its
north side, then proceed due west to Route 552, then south along the east curb of Route 552, to the
point of origin.
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Dr. Charles Simmons, Chairman
History and Geography Department
Norfolk State College

Norfolk, Virginia 23504
October 30, 1975
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